2001

Westinghouse Credit Corp v. HydrosSwift Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action brought by the Plaintiff to enforce a guaranty purportedly executed by the Defendant guaranteeing the floor planning account of a boat dealer buying boats from the Plaintiff manufactured by the Defendant.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the Court. From a judgment for the Plaintiff, Defendant appeals.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Defendant seeks a reversal of the judgment and the entry of a judgment in favor of the Defendants of no cause of action, or that failing, a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Plaintiff is a corporation engaged in the business of financing the purchase by trust receipts and floor planning of various commodities by retailers.

The Defendant is engaged in the manufacture and sale of boats, the sales being to retail dealers and outlets.

In 1972, a retail dealer by the name of L & S Boats, located in Great Falls, Montana, wished to buy boats for retail sale. As a means of purchasing the boats, L & S Boats entered into a financing contract with the Plaintiff whereby Plaintiff would purchase the boats from Defendant and cause their delivery to be made to L & S Boats (Exhibits 5-P, 7-P, 8-P, 16-P). The boats were to be held in trust by L & S Boats for the benefit of the Plaintiff, and when each boat was sold, the original purchase price of the boat was to be transmitted to the Plaintiff. This agreement between L & S Boats was entered into in March of 1972 (R 53) (Exhibit 4-P). Plaintiff required the Defendant to sign a guaranty of L & S Boat's account as a condition for Plaintiff buying and paying for the boats (Exhibit 1-P), although L & S Boats did not know of the guaranty (R 84). It was

agreed by the parties that monthly floor checks of the inventory would be conducted by Plaintiff's agent (R 55) and floor checks by Defendant every 90 days. The guaranty is silent as to the amount of credit that was purportedly guaranteed by the Defendant; however, Plaintiff admitted that the credit amount was \$25,000 (R 56, 78).

Shortly after the agreements were signed, L & S Boats violated its trust agreement and sold boats without remitting the cost price to the Plaintiff. This situation persisted for several months and was known to Plaintiff. On December 20, 1972, the Defendant was advised by the Plaintiff that L & S Boats was out of trust on numerous boats, and shortly thereafter, Defendant demanded that Plaintiff pick up the balance of the boats then still in the possession of L & S Boats (R 67). Plaintiff refused to do this (R 48, 51) and demanded that the Defendant pay to Plaintiff the remaining balance due from L & S Boats. During this interval, L & S Boats disposed of the remaining boats without remitting to the Plaintiff any money realized from the sale of the boats. Defendant refused to pay Plaintiff the balance due to Plaintiff from L & S Boats and Plaintiff thereupon brought suit against Defendant on the guaranty for the claimed balance.

Defendant's sales invoices sold and delivered title of the boats to the Plaintiff and the Defendant did not retain any title or security interest in the boats (R 76). The evidence did not establish that Plaintiff ever perfected its security interest in the boats with proper filing

of a UCC Form 1 with the Secretary of State of Montana (R 98, 99).

Plaintiff, at the time of trial, maintained that the Defendant had an unequivocal duty to perform under the guaranty. Defendant defended the action on the grounds that the Plaintiff had breached its duty to the Defendant by its failure to repossess the unsold boats when it found that L & S Boats had been selling out of trust; and further, that the guaranty was null and void in that the same had not been approved by the Board of Directors of the Defendant when the guaranty agreement expressly required such an approval (Exhibit 1-P), and that Plaintiff had obtained other guarantors, but had not named them in the action, and that Plaintiff failed to perfect its security agreement with L & S Boats to protect title. The matter was tried to the Court, and upon judgment for the Plaintiff and against the Defendant this appeal was taken.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

DEFENDANT'S GUARANTY WAS VOIDED BY PLAINTIFF'S CONDUCT.

It is the position of the Defendant that the Plaintiff had a duty to repossess the boats in the possession of L & S Boats when the Plaintiff ascertained that L & S Boats was selling boats out of trust and dissipating the

proceeds of the inventory without paying Plaintiff, if Plaintiff intended to look to Defendant on the guaranty.

The evidence was undisputed that the Plaintiff refused to repossess the boats or to take any steps whatsoever to protect the position of the guarantor, Defendant Hydroswift Corporation, even though requested by it to do so.

In the authoritative work 50 Am Jur 1011, *Suretyship*, Section 163, it is stated:

“The contract of suretyship imports entire good faith and confidence between the parties in regard to the whole transaction. Moreover, a surety is a favored debtor and his rights are zealously guarded, both at law and in equity. Hence, the slightest fraud on the part of the creditor, touching the contract, annuls it.”

In the instant case, the Plaintiff had title to the boats. It knew that the L & S Boat Company was selling the boats out of trust and in violation of its agreement with the Plaintiff, but Plaintiff took no steps to protect itself or to protect the guarantor Defendant. Defendant could not repossess the boats as title was in Plaintiff, and L & S Boats held the boats under a trust agreement with the Plaintiff. The Plaintiff was in a position to satisfy its debt, but chose not to do so.

Again, 50 Am Jur 970, *Suretyship*, Section 99, sets forth the general law that:

“Failure to assert, setoff or counterdemand against principal . . . ordinarily, a surety is discharged from the liability when a creditor, hav-

ing in his possession or under his control the means of satisfying the debt, chooses not to make the appropriation and voluntarily parts therewith."

It has long been the law that "In all suretyship relations, the creditor owes to the surety a duty of continuous good faith and fair dealing." *Sumitomo Bank of California vs. Iwasaki*, (Calif. 1968) 73 Cal. Reporter 564, 447 P. 2d 956.

Since Utah has adopted the Uniform Commercial Code (referred to as "UCC" herein) 70 A Section 3-606, UCA, there can be little doubt that the release of security by the holder serves as a release of the accommodation maker or guarantor (11 Am Jur 2d 981, *Bills & Notes*, Sec. 939). The adoption of the UCC has overruled the Court's previous ruling in *Felkner vs. Smith*, (1933), 77 U. 410, 296 P. 776. The effect of the Uniform Negotiable Instrument Law (sometimes referred to as "NIL") repealed by the adoption of the UCC on this question, has likewise become moot. In the Illinois case of *Key Credit Corporation vs. Young*, (1970) 124 Ill. App. 2d 309, 260 N.E. 2d 488, the Appellate Court discussed the Utah law with respect to the releasing of chatteled property back to the maker of the note without the consent or knowledge of an accommodation maker. The case arose in the State of Utah and the case was decided on Utah law. The Illinois Court, after discussing the law prior to the adoption of the Uniform Negotiable Instrument Law, and subsequent thereto under the UCC, and the effect of *Wolstenholme vs. Smith*, 34 U. 300, 97 P. 329, concluded by ruling:

“We, too, are of the opinion that by releasing the chattel mortgage property after default without the consent or knowledge of Defendant, as accommodation maker, the Plaintiff discharged the obligations of Defendant under the note. We realize that some cases have interpreted the NIL differently. However, our holding is in conformity with both the common law existing prior to the adoption of the NIL, and today’s Uniform Commercial Code which Utah adopted in 1966. (See Utah Code Annotated 1953, *Replacement*, Vol. 7B, Title 70A, Section 3-606).”

This case then goes on to hold that the discharge is not necessarily complete, but it is effective only to the extent that the accommodation maker has been injured. This holding is in conformity with a similar ruling under the UCC in the Oregon case of *Christensen vs. McAtee*, (Oregon 1970) 473 P. 2d 659. Wyoming has followed this rationale in the case of *Shaffer vs. Davidson*, (Wyo. 1968) 445 P. 2d 13. See annotation 2 ALR 2d 260, 269.

In the authoritative work on the UCC, 3 Anderson Uniform Commercial Code, 2 Ed. 129, Section 3-606:7, it states:

“The holder of a negotiable instrument discharges any party to the instrument to the extent that, without such party’s consent, the holder unjustifiably impairs any collateral for the instrument given by or on behalf of that party or any person against whom he has a right of recourse.”

In the instant case, we have even a stronger case than those cases where the guarantor or accommodation maker was looking to chattelled or pledged security. In

the instant case, title to the merchandise was vested in the Plaintiff although possession was in L & S Boats under the trust agreement and floor plan. There was no way that Defendant could assume the position of the primary debtor as pointed out in the *Felkner vs. Smith* case. That the Defendant was damaged is obvious, and that the amount of that damage is susceptible to computation by reviewing Exhibit 3-P which shows the inventory then on hand with L & S Boats when demand was made by Hydroswift to repossess the boats. Plaintiff's Exhibit 2-P, the letter of December 27, 1972, showed that the inventory on hand was valued at \$13,721.07 at wholesale prices. The evidence further showed that in January of 1973, when Defendant again requested the Plaintiff to pick up the remaining boats, there was approximately \$9,000 in merchandise left at L & S Boats (R 48).

Plaintiff attempted to show that in addition to title to the boats, that it had perfected a security lien under the UCC of Montana. However, Plaintiff failed to introduce into evidence recorded copies of the UCC Form 1 and the Defendant moved that all references to the UCC Form 1 be stricken (R 98, 99). The Court erred in not striking the testimony with respect to it (Rule 4, Rules of Evidence, Utah).

3 Anderson, Uniform Commercial Code, 2d Ed. 129, Sec. 3-606:8 states:

“The failure to perfect a security interest under Article 9 is an ‘impairing’ of collateral within the discharge provision of Article 3 . . .

“Consequently, where a creditor is given chattel mortgage on an automobile to secure payment of a note, the chattel mortgage constitutes ‘collateral’ and if the creditor fails to file the mortgage with the result that it has no effect as against a subsequent purchaser of the automobile, there is a failure to preserve collateral within the meaning of Code Sec. 9-207, and an accommodation maker on the note is discharged under Code Sec. 3-606.” (See *Shaffer vs. Davidson*, op cite)

POINT II

PLAINTIFF FAILED TO PROVE THAT THE GUARANTY WAS AN OFFICIAL ACT OF DEFENDANT AND THEREFORE, THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING JUDGMENT BASED ON GUARANTY.

Plaintiff’s entire case is based upon the guaranty which was purportedly executed by the corporation. Plaintiff introduced into evidence Exhibit 1-P which shows that a Mr. Ludlow executed the guaranty, but nothing is shown as to his corporate office or capacity.

The guaranty form used by the Plaintiff has printed on it in bold type:

“The signature of each corporate guarantor must be supported by a certified copy of a board resolution or by-law naming the officer or officers authorized to sign.”

It is evident that the Plaintiff recognized the general law which requires that corporate authority be shown for the execution of a guaranty.

The general law is stated by 19 Am Jur 2d 607, *Corporations*, Section 1183:

“A corporation is not liable upon a contract of suretyship or guaranty made by an officer, in the absence of evidence that the contract was within the authority of the officer as expressly or impliedly conferred upon him by statute, by-law or the act or acquiescence of its managing body, or was properly incidental to business entrusted to him by that body, or was within his ostensible authority as established by the practice of the company, or was ratified by the proper authority.”

In an annotation in 34 ALR 2d 290, *Authority of Officer or Agent to Bind Corporation as Guarantor*, at page 291, it is stated, after reasserting the principle laid down by the 19 Am Jur 2d statement:

“Although this general rule applies to all contracts of a corporation, it has specific application to those of suretyship or guaranty because these are not usually contemplated as within the regular course of commercial business.”

No corporate authorization was asked for at the time of the signing of the guaranty and no corporate authorization was ever delivered.

The Plaintiff had the burden of showing the corporate authority of the officer executing the guaranty (9 Fletcher Cyclopedia Corporations 506). The officer being an agent, the law of agency applies. As stated in *Fuller vs. Stout*, (Okla. 1917) 166 P. 898 at page 900:

“That agency is a fact, the burden of proving which rests upon the party affirming its existence, is an unquestioned canon of the law.”

As stated in 19 Am Jur 649, *Corporations*, Section 1239:

“It is for him who asserts that such authority exists to prove it.”

Plaintiff, in its Complaint, did not specifically allege corporate authority; however, Defendant denied the entire guaranty. This put the matter of the guaranty in issue. Plaintiff did not attempt to introduce any evidence or testimony with respect to the existence of corporate authority of Mr. Ludlow, or to show any other facts which would allow the finding of apparent or ostensible authority on the part of Mr. Ludlow to execute the guaranty on behalf of the corporation (*Grover vs. Garn*, 23 U. 2d 441, 464 P.2d 598; *Amoss vs. Bennion*, 18 U. 2d 251, 420 P. 2d 47). The facts of each case must be looked at to determine whether or not there is such authority (*Peterson vs. Holmgren Land and Livestock Company*, 12 U. 2d 125, 363 P. 2d 786).

The form used by the Plaintiff showed on its face that the corporate authority was required to be evidenced at the time that the document was to be executed. Plaintiff cannot now be heard to assert estoppel, apparent or ostensible authority. It well knew that such a guaranty was outside the scope of general corporate authority and that it could not rely upon the signature of an officer alone.

The failure of the Plaintiff to prove corporate authority is fatal; and therefore, the Court erred in finding that there was a viable and legally binding guaranty which bound the Defendant corporation.

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that the Trial Court erred in not granting Defendant's motion to dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint.

The Court further erred in ruling that the guaranty executed by the Defendant was a corporate act and that the corporation was bound thereby.

The Court further erred in not holding that the Defendant's guaranty was voided by Plaintiff's conduct in refusing to repossess the boats and to sell the same to satisfy the indebtedness.