2001

# Westinghouse Credit Corporation v. HydrosSwift Corporation : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action commenced by the Plaintiff to recover Judgment under a written guaranty agreement executed by the defendant which guaranteed the payment of the floor planning account of a boat dealer purchasing boats from the defendant.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

This case was tried to the Court. From a judgment for the Plaintiff, Defendant appeals.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Defendant seeks a reversal of the judgment and the entry of a judgment in favor of the Defendant of no cause of action, or that failing, a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Plaintiff is a corporation engaged in the business of financing the purchase by trust receipts and floor planning of various commodities by retailers.

The Defendant is engaged in the manufacture and sale of boats, the sales being to retail dealers and outlets.

In early 1972, a retail dealer of the Defendant by the name of L & S Boats, Great Falls, Montana, desired to purchase boats from the Defendant for retail sale and to finance them under a floor plan account. The Plaintiff did not service the Great Falls, Montana, area. However, at the request of the Defendant and upon its agreement to guaranty the account (Exhibit 1-P), the Plaintiff entered into a financing contract with L & S Boats (Exhibit 4-P). L & S Boats purchased the boats it desired from the Defendant and when the Defendant shipped them the Defendant invoiced the Plaintiff for payment (Exhibits 5-P, 6-P, 7-P, 8-P and R 46 L 19-25). The boats were to be held in trust as security and upon sale the trust amount was to be remitted to the Plaintiff. These agreements were entered into in March, 1972. Roy S. Ludlow was the President of the Defendant (R 43 L 25) and executed the written guaranty on behalf of the Defendant (R 45 L 12-14). It was further agreed by the Plaintiff and Defendant that monthly floor checks of the inventory of L & S Boats would be conducted by a retail credit company in the Great Falls, Montana, area, at the expense of L & S Boats and in addition the Defendant would make such a floor check each ninety (90) days. The limitation on credit to L & S Boats was \$25,000.00.

Contrary to the Appellants statement of facts, L & S Boats sold boats for some months and remitted the trust amount to the Plaintiff (R 70 L 19-24). However, on or about December 20, 1972, the Plaintiff was advised by the retail credit company that a floor check showed L & S Boats was out of trust for two (2) boats and two (2) trailers, totaling \$4,255.37 and was not able to make payment. The Plaintiff immediately notified Roy S. Ludlow, President of the Defendant, by telephone, and made demand upon the Defendant for payment of the balance owing on the L & S Boat account in accordance with the unconditional guaranty. Plaintiff also made written demand for payment of the Defendant on December 27, 1972 (Exhibit 2-P). The Plaintiff offered to assign its security position to the Defendant upon receiving payment (R 5 L 14-29). The Defendant refused payment and requested that the Plaintiff pick up the remaining merchandise. The Plaintiff refused and renewed its demand under the unconditional guaranty and made repeated requests for payment during the months of January, February and March, 1973 (R 47 L 16-18). In the meantime L & S Boats disposed of the remaining merchandise.

The Plaintiff, through its district manager, Norman Kent Moyes, offered testimony that a financing statement and UCC Form 1 were filed with the State of Montana (R 56 L 1-3, R 80, 81). No contrary evidence was introduced.

At the time of trial, the Plaintiff maintained that the Defendant had an unequivocal duty to make payment under the unconditional guaranty. The Defendant defended the action on the grounds the Plaintiff had the duty to first repossess the unsold merchandise still

in trust; further the unconditional guaranty was null and void as not being the legal act of the Defendant corporation and the Plaintiff failed to perfect its security agreement. The Trial Court resolved the issues in favor of the Plaintiff and granted the Plaintiff judgment, which is being appealed by the Defendant.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### DEFENDANT'S GUARANTY WAS A VALID DOCUMENT AND WAS NOT VOIDED BY ANY CONDUCT OF THE PLAINTIFF.

The cogent provisions of the unconditional guaranty (Exhibit 1-P), on the reverse side, in the third paragraph, are as follows:

“Until the indebtedness is fully paid, the guarantor waives all notices and formalities, all debtor relief protection, all rights to interpose defenses of the obligor, and all subrogation to collateral. The creditor shall have unlimited freedom to deal with the obligor and others concerning the indebtedness and collateral without reducing guarantor's liability. The creditor has no duty to enforce the creditor's rights (1) against the obligor or others, (2) in any collateral, or (3) under this guaranty, in any particular sequence or combination. . . .”

In 38 Am Jud 2d 1116, Guaranty Section 110, it is stated:

“The nature of the guarantor's promise controls the need for the creditor to pursue the debtor or his property before commencing an action against the guarantor. Where the contract

promise of the guarantor is absolute—that is, subject to no condition except the default of the principal debtor—or where the promise has become absolute by the occurrence of the named conditions, the guarantor is obligated to pay the debt of the principal debtor. In such a situation, the creditor may maintain an action against the guarantor immediately upon default of the debtor, without demand upon the debtor for payment and without first having proceeded against the debtor. The creditor need not show that an action against the debtor would be unavailing because of the latter's insolvency. The question as to whether the debt or any part thereof is collectible from the debtor does not affect the liability of the guarantor, the latter being unconditionally bound to satisfy the obligation. Further, if the guaranty is absolute, the creditor need not pursue any claim which he might have against the debtor's property before proceeding against the guarantor."

Even a cursory examination of the wording of the guaranty readily discloses that it is unconditional and absolute. There are no conditions precedent for action on the part of the Plaintiff before the Defendant becomes legally obligated to make payment other than a notice of default and demand for payment. *Wall v. Eccles*, 61 Utah 247, 211 P. 702, 145 A.L.R. 924.

The references on page 5 of the Defendants Brief to Suretyship and its legal argument based upon them are not applicable to the instant case. No fraud was present, the Plaintiff released no property rights or security interests and was entitled to immediate payment under the terms of the unconditional guaranty. The Plaintiff offered to immediately assign its security interest and position to the Defendant upon receiving payment. The Plaintiff was under no duty whatsoever

to first proceed against the trust property or L & S Boats.

Neither is the Defendant's reference to the Uniform Commercial Code applicable and none of its provisions change the Plaintiff's rights under the unconditional guaranty. The Defendant specifically refers to 70A-3-606, UCC, dealing with commercial paper and specifically releases, agreements not to sue and impairment of collateral, has no application in the instant case. The Defendant mistakenly concluded it had the right to withhold payment until the Plaintiff picked up the trust merchandise and must now bear its own loss resulting from such erroneous conclusion.

The Defendant, in closing its argument under this point, claims the Plaintiff failed to perfect its security interest. The Defendant introduced no evidence that a security interest had not been perfected and the testimony of the Plaintiff was to the effect a UCC Form 1 blanket filing had been made in the State of Montana. The Trial Court was correct in its conclusion that such was the case. However, it would seem moot whether a security interest was perfected or not since the Defendant refused to make payment, received no assignment of the Plaintiff's position nor made any attempt to exercise the rights of the security holder.

## POINT II

PLAINTIFF PROVED THE GUARANTY WAS VALID AND THE OFFICIAL ACT OF THE DEFENDANT AND THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE PLAINTIFF BASED ON THE GUARANTY.

Roy S. Ludlow, the signator for the Defendant on the unconditional guaranty (Exhibit 1-P), testified he was the President of the Defendant (R 43 L 25) and that he signed on behalf of the Defendant corporation (R 45 L 8-14). This is consistent with his signature following the typed name and address of the Defendant corporation. At no time during his testimony did Roy S. Ludlow deny his authority to sign for and on behalf of and to legally bind the Defendant. Further, no evidence whatsoever was introduced by the Defendant that its President had no authority to execute the unconditional guaranty. Therefore, the execution of the document and the testimony of its President stands and the document remains as the uncontroverted act and contract of the Defendant, binding it to all of the terms of the unconditional guaranty.

Furthermore, the Defendant, having been advised that credit would be extended L & S Boats only upon a written guaranty and having executed and delivered the same and having sold and shipped boats to L & S Boats and billed the Plaintiff and having received payment would be estopped from now contending that the guaranty lacked proper corporate authority. 19 Am Jur 2d 451, Corporations Section 974. Union Trust Co. v Illinois Midland R. Co. 117 US 434, 29 L ed 963, 6 S Ct 809; 809; Long v Georgia P. R. Co. 91 Ala 519, 8 So 706; Dillon V Myers, 58 Colo 492, 146 P 268; Marshall v Webster, 287 Ky 692, 155 SW2d 13; Shoemaker v Mechanics' Nat. Bank, 31 Md 396; Benson Lumber Co v Thornton, 185 Minn 230, 240 NW 651, 81 ALR 981; Whitney Arms Co. v Barlow, 63 NY 62; Williston v Ludowese, 53 ND 797, 208 NW 82; Crowder State Bank v Aetna Power Co. 41 Okla 394, 138 P 392; Dexter v First Guaranty State Bank (Tex Civ App) 180 SW 1172; Creditor's Claim &

Adjustment Co. v Northwest Loan & T. Co. 81 Wash 247, 142 P 670.

The authorities quoted by the Defendant on pages 10 and 11 of its Brief all relate to situations where the corporation has denied its authority to execute the document. No such denial was made in the instant case and such authorities are therefore not in point.

Also, the failure of the Defendant to furnish a certified copy of a board resolution or by-law, although desirable, does not void the unconditional guaranty and particularly so where the parties treated the same as a valid and binding document. The Trial Court properly found that the guaranty was executed by the Defendant, through its President, Roy S. Ludlow, and based upon the President's testimony the guaranty was properly executed on behalf of the Defendant corporation.

### CONCLUSION

The Plaintiff respectfully submits that the Trial Court properly resolved the issues in the Plaintiff's favor and did not err in any of the particulars claimed by the Defendant.

The Defendant's appeal should be dismissed and the Plaintiff awarded his costs of Court.